# Lactone Formation in Yeast and Fungi

15

# Jolanta Krzyczkowska, Hanh Phan-Thi, and Yves Waché

# Contents

1	Introduction				
2	General Ways of Lactone Formation	. 463			
	2.1 Lactone Resulting from Intra-esterification of Hydroxy Acids	. 463			
	2.2 The Polyketone Pathway	. 465			
	2.3 Baeyer–Villiger Monooxygenases	. 466			
3	Lactones as Flavors and Perfumes	. 467			
	3.1 Lactones as Flavors	. 467			
	3.2 Macrocyclic Musk Lactones	. 470			
4	Lactone for Quorum Sensing (QS) in Yeast and Fungi				
	4.1 Introduction to Lactones for Quorum Sensing	. 473			
	4.2 Lactone-Containing Molecules for Quorum Sensing in Fungi	. 474			
	4.3 Perspectives	. 477			
5	Lactone Mycotoxins and Other Bioactive Macrocyclic Lactones	. 477			
	5.1 Lactone Mycotoxins	. 478			
	5.2 Other Bioactive Macrocyclic Lactones	. 483			
6	Fungal Biocatalysts	. 490			
	6.1 Baeyer–Villiger Monooxygenases	. 490			
	6.2 Lactonases	. 491			
	6.3 The Polyketide Synthase Pathway	. 491			
7	Conclusion	. 492			
Re	49				

J. Krzyczkowska (🖂)

e-mail: jolanta\_krzyczkowska@sggw.pl

H. Phan-Thi • Y. Waché

Laboratory PAM, Joint Research Unit AgroSup Dijon-University of Bourgogne-Franche Comté, Dijon, France e-mail: phanhanh bq29@yahoo.com; ywache@u-bourgogne.fr

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

J.-M. Mérillon, K.G. Ramawat (eds.), *Fungal Metabolites*, Reference Series in Phytochemistry, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-25001-4\_13

Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Food Sciences, Warsaw University of Life Sciences – SGGW, Warsaw, Poland

#### Abstract

Lactones are important secondary metabolites for fungi. In this chapter are presented some lactones that are important in biotechnology such as flavoring lactones or fragrance macrocyclic musk compounds, whereas others are important for quorum sensing and health (mycotoxins). Different pathways or enzymes can give rise to lactones, and the pathways going through  $\beta$ -oxidation and  $\omega$ -oxidation and the fungal polyketide pathway (relatively similar to the fatty acid synthesis pathway) are presented as well as the activity of Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases and lactonases and their potential use in biotechnology.

#### Keywords

Lactones • Macrocyclic musk fragrances • Butyrolactone • Quorum sensing • Mycotoxins • Patulin • Aflatoxins •  $\beta$ -Oxidation •  $\omega$ -Oxidation • Polyketide synthase • Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenase • Lactonase

List of Abbreviations	
6MSA	6-Methylsalicylic acid
AHL	Acyl-homoserine lactone
AF	Aflatoxin
AFL	Aflatoxicol
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BVMO	Baeyer-Villiger monooxygenase
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
DALs	Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid lactones
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FAS	Synthesis of fatty acids
HSP	Heat shock protein 7
IC <sub>50</sub>	Half maximal inhibitory concentration
МАР, МАРК, МАРККК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAP), kinase (K)
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
PKS	Polyketide synthase
QS	Quorum sensing
RALs	Resorcylic acid lactones
TAK	Transforming growth factor-activated kinase
ZAL	Zearalanol
ZAN	Zearalanone
ZEN	Zearalenone
ZEL	Zearalenol

### 1 Introduction

The lactone function is characterized by the presence of an ester in a cycle. A lactone is thus an oxygenated heterocycle resulting from the cyclization (or lactonization) of hydroxy acids.  $\gamma$ -Lactones and  $\delta$ -lactones, also corresponding to 4- and 5-olides, represent the two structures most frequently identified in the composition of aroma compounds. They result from the cyclization of acids hydroxylated in 4 or 5. But there are several other groups of lactones exhibiting various important properties. Among them are volatile lactones exhibiting flavoring and perfuming properties as well as lactones involved in cell-to-cell communication, but lactones can exhibit other bioactivities such as antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, and anticancer ones. Fungi are able to produce several types of lactones. Yeast is the reference organism for the biotechnological production of musk macrocyclic lactones and of the flavoring  $\gamma$ -decalactone. Besides, communication homoserine lactones, although having been more studied in bacteria, exist also in fungi. Less-known lactones exhibiting antimicrobial effects have also been identified in fungi. Eventually, fungal polyketide synthases are versatile tools to produce lactones.

This chapter aims to introduce pathways for lactone formation in yeast and other fungi, and, after giving a short introduction on the principles of lactone formation, it will present the pathways for the production of the various lactones cited above.

# 2 General Ways of Lactone Formation

Lactone can result from different enzymatic pathways, and three main biosynthetic pathways are presented in this part. Some of these ways ( $\beta$ - or  $\omega$ -oxidation) can be related to the main metabolic pathways of oxidation of lipids in fungi (Fig. 1). Main pathways for catabolism of hydrophobic compounds give potentially rise to lactones, while another is specific for the synthesis of polyketides. Besides, some enzymes involved in various pathways (Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases, lactonases) can also catalyze the synthesis or hydrolysis of lactones.

### 2.1 Lactone Resulting from Intra-esterification of Hydroxy Acids

This pathway is a very common way to get lactones [1]. When the hydroxyl group of a fatty alcohol can be in contact with the hydroxyl from the acid group, esterification can occur readily, especially in acidic conditions.

Different types of enzymes can be involved in this reaction. First, fatty acids have to be hydroxylated which is catalyzed by oxygenases, hydratases, or hydroxylases. Monooxygenases are available in the  $\omega$ -oxidation pathway. They can oxidize alkanes at one end of the molecule or fatty acids in the  $\omega$ -end of the molecule.



Fig. 1 Main pathways for catabolism of hydrophobic compounds giving potentially rise to lactones

Their role in metabolism and in biotechnology will be given in the part on macrocyclic lactones, and some fundamental or applied aspects have already been given in [2, 3]. Beside these  $\alpha$ - and  $\omega$ -regiospecific enzymes, there is a great deal of cytochrome P450 enzymes catalyzing oxidation of various substances [4]. However, in the case of fatty acid hydroxylation, most enzymes are not specific, giving rise to several different hydroxy acids with low yields. For instance, *Mortierella* sp. were used to transform caprylic acid into octalactone but gave rise to several different lactones [5].

If the hydroxyl group is not well located to react with the acid group,  $\beta$ -oxidation can occur first, resulting in a shortening of the distance between the two groups. This oxidation system involves a set of four reactions occurring in a cyclic way on energized fatty acids, acyl-CoA (Fig. 2). At each cycle, the length of the fatty acyl decreases of two carbons and an acetyl-CoA is created. Through this mechanism, a 10-hydroxylated fatty acid like ricinoleic acid 1 on Fig. 2 can be shortened of 6 or 8 carbons (3 or 4  $\beta$ -oxidation cycles), giving rise to an  $\varepsilon$ - or  $\gamma$ -lactone, respectively. In the set of  $\beta$ -oxidation enzymes, there is an enoyl-CoA hydratase catalyzing the 3-hydroxylation of the acyl-CoA which is later dehydrogenated into its ketone. When lactonization occurs during this  $\beta$ -oxidation cycle, it can thus give rise to functionalized lactones. The catabolism of ricinoleic acid 1 on Fig. 2 giving rise to various lactones has been discussed in [6], and more information on biotechnological applications of  $\beta$ -oxidation will be given below, in the part on flavoring lactones.

In many cases, intra-esterification occurs readily, but some esterases have also been shown to exert a lactonase activity catalyzing cyclization or the opening of the lactone cycle. Actually, hydrolysis has been more investigated as it is involved in the catabolism of active compounds, whereas for esterification it is often difficult to state whether it has occurred readily or through an enzymatic catalysis. Readers interested in microbial lactonase activities can find information in a review on this subject [7].



Fig. 2  $\beta$ -Oxidation and synthesis of lactones (a) and synthesis of lactones from intermediates of  $\beta$ -oxidation cycle (b)

# 2.2 The Polyketone Pathway

Beside the hydroxyl fatty acid pathway, a very common pathway in the synthesis of lactones is through the polyketide synthase pathway [8]. Polyketides are a family of complex secondary metabolites built from carboxylic acid building blocks. In microorganisms, they are produced by large, multifunctional proteins termed polyketide synthases (PKS). This pathway involves a set of basic reactions that are often

compared to the synthesis of fatty acids (FAS) as there is a start with a keto-synthase with an acyl group which condensates with acyltransferase-catalyzed loaded malonyl units onto an acyl carrier protein. Ketoreductase, dehydratase, and enoyl-reductase catalyze the processing of the compounds which is eventually terminated by a thioesterase. In fungi, this pathway has first been observed in the synthesis of patulin (see below) but is also at the origin of aflatoxins and many compounds. The better understanding of the PKS pathway in fungi enabled evolutionists to investigate the relationship between the various PKS and FAS systems [9]. This confirmed that the iterative fungal PKS-I system is directly related to the animal FAS-I system and far from the fungal FAS-I system.

# 2.3 Baeyer–Villiger Monooxygenases

Baeyer–Villiger (BV) oxidation consists in the transformation of a linear or cyclic ketone into its corresponding ester or lactone by insertion of an oxygen atom next to the carbonyl group (Scheme 1). It is catalyzed by Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases (BVMOs, EC 1.14.13.x), which were first isolated in the 1960s, and their encoding genes, identified in the 1990s. There are different types of BVMO but the majority is sequence related (type I BMVOs), and they belong to the subclass B flavoprotein monooxygenases; the FAD cofactor is the prosthetic group, and they depend on NADPH as electron donor. An exhaustive review on the subject has been published some years ago [10].

The role of this enzyme is not fully elucidated, but it is remarkable that it has been only described in microorganisms where BMVO-specific protein sequence motifs have been found in each microbial genome investigated. However, some specific



Hydrolysis followed by β-oxidation

**Scheme 1** Degradation of limonene by the mountain pine beetle-associated pathogen *Grosmannia clavigera* (Adapted from Wang et al. [13])

filamentous fungi possess families of BMVO-encoding genes. These enzymes can fulfill a variety of functions, such as catabolic properties enabling microorganisms to grow on and degrade various ketones (shown for *Candida* sp. in [11]), cyclic alkanes, alcohol, or terpene into dicarboxylic acids (shown for bacteria in [12] and for *Grosmannia clavigera* in [13] (Scheme 1)), and, as shown below, they are involved in the synthesis of secondary metabolites.

# 3 Lactones as Flavors and Perfumes

#### 3.1 Lactones as Flavors

#### 3.1.1 Historic of Production

Short- and medium-sized length lactones resulting from the esterification of hydroxy fatty acids are an important family of aroma compounds. From butyrolactone (butyrolactone corresponds to two different molecules depending on the field, flavors, or quorum sensing; here it stands for molecule **3** in Fig. 2 with R = 0, while in the field of quorum sensing, butyrolactones correspond to lactones with a 4-carbon ring (or  $\gamma$ -lactones or 4-olides) like butyrolactone-I **10**) to C12  $\gamma$ - or  $\delta$ -lactones that can be functionalized or desaturated, there are several lactones possessing flavoring properties especially with fruity, fatty, and oily notes (Fig. 3). These lactones are present in many fruits where they are likely to result from the 1.1 pathway shown above. Yeasts are also able to synthesize these compounds that can be encountered in fermented food such as bread, beer, or whisky [14]. During fermentation, the pathway of synthesis involves first a hydroxylation step which can be fulfilled by lactobacilli before the  $\beta$ -oxidation step carried out by yeast [15]. With similar ways of synthesis from plants and





γ-octalactone: coconut, caramel



γ-nonalactone: coconut, fatty, fruity, aniseed



γ-decalactone: peach, fatty, fruity



γ-dodecalactone: peach, butter, fatty, musk

Fig. 3 Some lactones possessing flavoring properties and their characteristic notes

from yeasts, these latter catalysts have been employed to produce lactones with the natural label from the first observation of their capability to produce lactones which occurred from investigation of the metabolism of hydroxy fatty acids. When using *Candida* sp.,  $\gamma$ -decalactone **2** accumulated during the catabolism of ricinoleic acid (hydroxylated in C10) [16]. In this study, ricinoleic acid 1 had been chosen because it was the only hydroxy acid available at low cost and in high amount. Indeed, due to a specific evolution in castor beans, castor oil possesses about 90 % ricinoleyl moieties. From ricinoleic acid, y-decalactone will be produced. This lactone benefited from technology developments becoming the aroma compounds the most produced through biotechnology. Its cost followed the trend from a fine chemical price (around \$12000/kg in 1986) to a low cost of natural aroma compounds (\$500/kg in 1998) [17]. The development of research to produce lactones through biotechnology has also to be related to the consumers' trend toward natural compounds. There has been a first period of interest in the 1980s-1990s which followed the demand of European consumers (mainly in German-speaking countries in the beginning). During this period, most pathways of synthesis of aroma compounds had been investigated, and only some had been selected as potential sources of realistic price compounds [3]. Other lactones produced at this time were 6-pentyl- $\alpha$ -pyrone 4,  $\delta$ -jasminolactone 5,  $\gamma$ -octalactone 6,  $\gamma$ -dodecalactone 7,  $\delta$ -dodecalactone, etc. (Fig. 3). Finally, after a time of decrease in the interest, activities in lactone production began to rise again with the world interest for natural flavors in the 2000s. In the meantime, the price decreased again, making it more difficult for new companies aiming at beginning production. Moreover, despite some rare new biotechnological strategies or the identification of some efficient catalysts, most of the strategies published in the present period cannot address the real issues in the field which are described in the next part. Instead of this, most of the works published recently concern the optimization of production with a specific medium or the repetition of previous studies on the effect of aeration or on the performances of POX-mutants from Yarrowia lipolytica.

#### 3.1.2 Limiting Steps of Lactone Production

#### Hydroxylation

As shown above, from fatty acids hydroxylated at various carbons, it would be possible to produce several lactones. However, production is limited to natural precursors that are already available at a low cost, such as ricinoleic acid 1, and to precursors that can be specifically hydroxylated, such as unsaturated fatty acids that can be hydroxylated by some fungal activities. The ability to hydroxylate a fatty acid at a specific level and with good yields could have a high impact on lactone production (see [1] for review), but this step, which has been a real challenge in the first period of development of lactones, does not receive much attention now. Fungi able to hydroxylate before carrying out  $\beta$ -oxidation could be particularly interesting as the two steps of biotransformation could be carried out in one reactor. Some examples are shown in Fig. 4. Another strategy to overcome this problem is to



modify plant substrates to make them produce hydroxylated fatty acids. Indeed, in the case of castor beans, it is remarkable that it is only a 4-amino acid evolution which changed the desaturase activity into a hydroxylase one [18]. From these facts, it seems promising to modify further enzymes of the fatty acid synthetic pathways to get a higher diversity of plant fatty acids.

#### **β-Oxidation Control**

The other crucial point is to control the flux of  $\beta$ -oxidation in yeast cells. Indeed,  $\beta$ -oxidation can go on after the stage of lactone formation, or the synthesized lactone can be further degraded by the producing cells. The fluxes of production have thus been investigated with several models for the production of  $\gamma$ -decalactone. Some interesting works have shown with *Sporobolomyces* sp. that several different models of channeling were present in the different strains tested [19]. In the meantime, works were carried out with mutant of the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. This species is, for many producers, the  $\gamma$ -decalactone-producing species. It is also a reference species for the study of lipid metabolism as it possesses many multigene families, and it can be genetically manipulated [2]. The role of the various enzymes has thus been characterized [20–22], enabling to genetically engineer new strains [23] and to study fluxes in this species [24].

A physicochemical approach was also used to decrease both the lactone toxicity toward and the lactone degradation by the producing cells. Lactone was trapped using various materials exhibiting affinity, and a reactor was designed [25–27].

Finally, these studies show a diversity of yeast behavior with some strains exhibiting very efficient  $\beta$ -oxidation that requires non-favorable conditions to produce lactones [1, 3, 6, 28–30], whereas other strains exhibit a channeled production with an increased production in better conditions (Alchihab, personal communication).

Recently a strain of *Waltomyces lipofer* exhibiting no limitation of lactone production has been reported and patented [31, 32]. Depending on the hydroxylated

substrate, this strain was able to produce  $\gamma$ -dodecalactone,  $\gamma$ -decalactone, and  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone. This strain revolutionized the knowledge acquired on lactone production as (i) it was not sensitive to lactone toxicity and could produce more than 50 g/l of the highly toxic  $\gamma$ -dodecalactone; (ii) it could produce in a state of permeabilization with a 70 % ethanol treatment and other drastic treatment which did not seem to alter the  $\beta$ -oxidation pathway and all the cofactor regeneration required, if this pathway was also the one involved in this strain; and (iii) in some cases, accompanying the 100 % conversion of hydroxy acid into lactone, the cell produced de novo about 20 % of the same lactone from glucose, reaching yields about 1.16 to 1.22. This latter point suggests the ability to produce C10 hydroxylated fatty acids by this yeast.

# 3.2 Macrocyclic Musk Lactones

# 3.2.1 Macrocyclic Musk Fragrances

Musk-like fragrances have been used from the late antiquity and still have wide applications in the world of perfumes as bottom notes exhibiting warm, sweet, powdery, or animal notes that are long-lasting, tenacious, and substantive. They are particularly interesting in cosmetics where musk is among the most popular perfumes for shower gels and deodorants [33]. Three main categories of compounds exhibit these musk notes: aromatic nitro-musks, polycyclic musk compounds (e.g., galaxolide, which, with its low cost and strong and sweet floral musk smell, has been used in many perfumes), and macrocyclic musk compounds. The two first groups are used in the cosmetics and detergent industries, but their detection in human tissues and in the environment in addition to a suspicion of carcinogenic properties gave rise in the 1990s to a public debate on safety concerns resulting in their progressive replacement by compounds belonging to the 3rd group.

This latter group consists of macrocyclic ketones and lactones that are synthesized from fatty acids (Fig. 1). The compounds responsible for these sensorial notes were at the origin extracted from glands of animals such as the Asian musk deer (Moschus moschiferus, Moschidae) for macrocyclic ketones and from plant sources for macrocyclic lactones. From animal origin, the price was very high as about 30-50 animals had to be sacrificed to get one kg of musk grains (without the possibility of eating the meat due to the strong musk odor). Despite the high price, this source was common in many popular perfumes until the protection in 1979 of musk deer as an endangered species (CITES). In plants, macrocyclic lactones (or macrolides) were isolated from angelica root (e.g., 15-pentadecanolide), ambrette seed oil, galbanum resin, orchids, etc. Although most of these ketones and lactones were considerably more expensive than musk fragrances from the two other groups, interest to them increased with the process of replacement of synthetic compounds that begun in the 1990s. However, as the synthesis of precursors of macrocyclic ketones and lactones was possible through a fungal metabolic pathway, yeast cells were rapidly preferred to plant and animal extraction for production. A set of compounds produced through yeast biotechnology was soon available with ketones



**Fig. 5** Some macrocyclic musk produced commercially with their commercial names. (a) Civettone or civetone; (b) muscone; (c) ambrettolide; (d) exaltolide, muskalactone, pentalide, thibetolide (Adapted from Sommer [34])

such as muscone **8** and exaltone resulting from  $\alpha,\omega$ -dicarboxylic acids and macrocyclic lactones resulting from acid–alcohol. The pentadecanolide **9** isolated from angelica root was thus proposed by several fragrance producers under different commercial names (e.g., exaltolide, thibetolide, macrolide, pentalide, etc.) (Fig. 5). The fragrance of the compounds depends on their structure as well as on their chain length. With 14 carbons, a weak musk scent is exhibited, but the musk odor is strong and nice with 15- and 16-carbon compounds [34].

#### 3.2.2 Pathway of Synthesis

The complete pathway of synthesis of macrocyclic molecules goes through the synthesis of a 15–16-carbon-long fatty acid that is oxidized into  $\omega$ -hydroxy fatty acids or  $\alpha,\omega$ -dicarboxylic acids and then cyclized into ketone or lactone macrocycles. The pathway of production is rather similar for the homologous cycles exhibiting animallike fragrances and for the heterologous cycles exhibiting plantlike fragrances, the first one going through the intra-esterification of  $\omega$ -hydroxy fatty acids and the second one through the one of  $\alpha, \omega$ -diacids (Scheme 2). From Baeyer's strain theory and entropy studies, it has long been thought that such molecules with ring sizes over seven carbons were impossible to get [147]. However, they were not only present in nature but also possible to synthesize with the help of fungi catalysis. It must be stressed, however, that, contrary to the flavor lactones presented above, macrocyclic compounds result from a minor metabolic pathway which gives only rarely rise to macrocyclic ketones or lactones in the culture medium for wild-type yeasts. This pathway, through  $\omega$ -oxidation (Fig. 1 and Scheme 2), enables the cell to oxidize alkanes and fatty alcohols into fatty acids that can enter the  $\beta$ -oxidation pathway. However, beside  $\beta$ -oxidation, alkanes and fatty acids can undergo the  $\omega$ -oxidation pathway which is catalyzed by a cytochrome P450 oxygenase encoded by an ALK gene. The third step of the pathway, cyclization, is based on the esterification of the alcohol-acid or diacid molecule. This reaction occurs readily in many conditions, but the intra-esterification giving rise to macrocyclic compounds is competing with interesterification which results in polymers. The conditions and concentrations of precursors must be carefully chosen to favor the first reaction. It is also possible to favor lactonization with biocatalysis as several fungal lipases exhibit lactonase activity.



Scheme 2 Pathway for the synthesis of macrocyclic lactone and other  $\alpha,\omega$ -cyclic fragrances from a carboxylic acid

#### 3.2.3 Biotechnological Developments

Due to the growing interest in natural and safe macrocyclic musk fragrances and to the limitation in the possibility of extraction from animal or plant tissues, biotechnologists have begun to imagine new ways to obtain these compounds in the beginning of the 1990s. The starting materials were natural C15 and C16 fatty acids available at a relatively low cost. The biocatalytic part began at this stage with yeast  $\omega$ -oxidation. As mentioned earlier, this pathway is rather a minor one, and C15 or C16 fatty acids are likely to be oxidized in the β-oxidation loop in most yeast possessing an efficient  $\omega$ -oxidation biocatalytic potential. As a result, the pioneering work by Picataggio [35, 36] consisted in engineering genetically a strain of *Candida tropicalis* to block the  $\beta$ -oxidation pathway and, in the meantime, to amplify the  $\omega$ -oxidation monooxygenase enzyme. To block the  $\beta$ -oxidation pathway, the *POX* gene encoding the enzyme catalyzing the first reaction, the acyl-CoA oxidase (Aox) was deleted. As this strain possessed two copies of a family of two POX genes (POX4 & POX5), the authors had to delete 4 genes. This first step was required to avoid degradation of the macrocycle precursors in this pathway, but, to increase the  $\omega$ -oxidation pathway, the monooxygenase encoding gene (ALK1) and the CPR genes coding for the NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase had to be amplified. This strategy was a success which limited the access to yeast macrocyclic musk to competitors. A second group in Japan working with a related strain belonging to Candida maltosa investigated another strategy based on repeated mutagenesis and screening for higher dicarboxylic acid production. They selected strains overproducing dicarboxylic acids, and, through analysis of the resulting strains [37], it was shown that the overproducing strain of C. maltosa exhibited decreased level of  $\beta$ -oxidation proteins and an increased induction of synthesis of Alk proteins in the presence of alkanes.

# 4 Lactone for Quorum Sensing (QS) in Yeast and Fungi

#### 4.1 Introduction to Lactones for Quorum Sensing

Ouorum sensing (OS) is a phenomenon of the microbial communication whereby the accumulation of certain chemical compounds (signal molecules) enables a single cell to sense the population density. This phenomenon is widespread in microbial communities and mostly studied in bacteria. QS enables bacteria to coordinate gene expression according to the density of their local population and to coordinate certain of their behaviors such as biofilm formation, virulence, and antibiotic resistance. These responses include adaptation to availability of nutrients, defense against other microorganisms which may compete for the same nutrients, and the avoidance of toxic compounds potentially dangerous for bacteria. Quorum sensing is also prevalent in the unicellular (yeast) and filamentous fungi. It has been observed fifteen years ago with the discovery that farnesol controls filamentation in the pathogenic polymorphic fungus Candida albicans [38] and that phenylethanol and tryptophol stimulate morphogenesis and pseudohyphal growth formation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae [39]. Furthermore, quorum-sensing mechanisms are reported in various filamentous fungi including Aspergillus nidulans, Aspergillus terreus, Penicillium chrysogenum, and Penicillium sclerotiorum [40-42].

Lactone-containing compounds are widespread in nature and are involved in acting as signaling molecules in bacteria and fungi. A large group of QS signals including lactone-containing molecules such as acyl-homoserine lactones (AHLs), butyrolactone-I **10**, and  $\gamma$ -heptalactone **11** are found in several gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria and filamentous fungi (e.g., *A. nidulans*) [43]. AHLs, composed of a lactone ring and different-length and different-substituent acyl side chain, are the major class of QS molecules in bacteria and are produced by more than 50 different bacterial species. Each AHL is catalyzed by a specific AHL synthase enzyme belonging to the *LuxI* family and corresponds to a particular cytoplasmic DNA-binding regulator *LuxR*-type protein in bacteria such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* [44]. At high cell densities, the accumulated autoinducer AHLs bind to regulatory proteins *LuxR*, and then this complex recognizes and binds specifically to a QS-regulated promoter, thus activating the transcription of target genes (DNA sequences) and inducing a particular QS response [45].

Other lactone-containing compounds such as  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone are found as signaling molecules in filamentous bacteria *Streptomyces* sp. [46]. The high similarities between the filamentous bacteria and filamentous fungi triggered researchers to investigate the presence and role of  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone-containing molecules in filamentous fungi [43]. It was later reported that several  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone-containing molecules such as butyrolactone-I **10**,  $\gamma$ -heptalactone **11**, and multicolanic acid **12** act as putative QS molecules in filamentous fungi.

The study of quorum sensing belongs to microbial ecology and population biology. It is still very little known about the mechanisms of synthesis and metabolism of signaling lactone-containing molecules involved in different bacterial and fungal species. The understanding of the above phenomena could have great potential for enhancing industrial production of commercially useful bacterial and fungal products. The genetic manipulations of the genes involved in the lactone QS and its metabolism processes could result in generation of engineered bacterial and fungal strains having implication in medicine, agriculture, and biotechnology with more specificity, i.e., antibiotic therapy, preventative therapy for plant disease, biosynthesis of antibiotics, and luminescent biosensors.

# 4.2 Lactone-Containing Molecules for Quorum Sensing in Fungi

The lactone-containing molecules for QS phenomenon in filamentous fungi have only recently been observed; however, the criteria for existence of this system in fungi are based on proposals which are particularly verified in bacteria and yeast [47]. One of the fundamental characteristics of quorum-sensing signaling molecules is the increase in concentration as the microbial population grows and the subsequent autoinduction when the population density threshold has been reached, which ensures the correct timing of the physiological response [48]. For a molecule to qualify as a quorum-sensing entity, it should satisfy some critical characteristics: the molecule should be produced throughout the growth of the organism; however, the quorum-sensing response is only initiated at a certain stage of the growth [49]. It is at this stage of growth that the increase of the QS molecule reaching a specific concentration alters a coordinated response in the entire population's behavior, i.e., secondary metabolite production. In many fungi such as Aspergillus nidulans, Aspergillus terreus, Penicillium chrysogenum, and Penicillium sclerotiorum, oxylipins and lactone-containing molecules have been considered as signaling molecules and are reported to induce physiological responses including morphological changes, sporulation, and secondary metabolite production including mycotoxins and antibiotics [40-42]. Table 1 provides further evidences of various lactone-containing signaling molecules utilized by fungi and their biological functions.

Filamentous	QS lactone- containing	Physiological response	References
Aspergillus terreus	Butyrolactone-I 10	Hyphal branching, submerged sporulation, secondary metabolite production (lovastatin and sulochrin)	[40]
Aspergillus nidulans	γ-Heptalactone 11	Increases penicillin production	[50]
Penicillium sclerotiorum	Multicolanic acid 12 and derivatives	Sclerotiorin production (antibiotic)	[51]

Table 1 Filamentous fungi and lactone-containing QS with their corresponding target functions

#### 4.2.1 Butyrolactone-I

Butyrolactone-I 10 is produced as a secondary metabolite by *Aspergillus terreus*. Because small butyrolactone-containing molecules act as self-regulating factors in some bacteria, the effects of butyrolactone-I addition on the producing organism, specifically changes in morphology, sporulation, and secondary metabolism, were recently studied [40, 52]. Threefold or greater increases in hyphal branching, submerged sporulation, and secondary metabolism were observed when butyrolactone-I was added to cultures of A. terreus. Schimmel and co-workers observed that butyrolactone-I acts as a signaling molecule to enhance the production of the secondary metabolite lovastatin (threefold increase) and sulochrin (twofold increase) in similar growth conditions when compared to the control without butyrolactone-I addition [40]. It was also found to have an auto-stimulatory function as well as induction of lovastatin biosynthetic genes [51]. Lovastatin is known therapeutically important for the prevention of cardiovascular disease [53, 54], and sulochrin has weak antibacterial and antifungal properties [55]. Furthermore, these findings indicate that butyrolactone-I induces morphological and sporulation changes in A. terreus and enhances secondary metabolite production in a manner similar to the changes that were observed with small  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone-containing molecules in filamentous bacteria of the genus Streptomyces. This observation is in accordance with the idea that butyrolactone-I may function as a QS molecule in A. terreus. The practical application of these studies is the possibility that butyrolactone-I could be used to increase or promote the production of desired secondary metabolites in A. terreus, i.e., lovastatin and sulochrin production. Moreover, the mechanism by which butyrolactone-I is produced or diffused out of the fungal cells during the growth process is not known.



Besides, butyrolactone-I is known as an antitumor and anticancer molecule. Indeed, it is a potent and selective inhibitor of the cellular roles of cyclindependent kinase (CDK) enzymes, specifically inhibiting Cdk2 and Cdc2 kinase [56]. CDKs are protein kinases that control cell cycle progression in all eukaryotes and are regulated by phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of critical serine, threonine, or tyrosine residues. The inhibitory effect of butyrolactone-I due to competition with ATP binding at CDK is to block the phosphorylation of the transcription factor E2F-1. Therefore, it inhibited Cdc2 of unsynchronized cultured prostate cancer cells and interrupted the cell cycle progression toward cell division [57].

#### 4.2.2 $\gamma$ -Heptalactone

Another  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone-containing molecule,  $\gamma$ -heptalactone **11**, is an endogenously produced QS molecule regulating growth and secondary metabolite production by *Aspergillus nidulans* [50] that is a filamentous fungus well known for its ability to produce the secondary metabolite penicillin [58]. This fungus produces  $\gamma$ -heptalactone at a high cell density, and it can alter the organism's behavior at a low cell density, i.e., altering the organism's growth profile by shortening the lag phase. It also induces the production of the secondary metabolite penicillin. Indeed, the addition of this  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone-containing molecule to the wild-type *A. nidulans* strain led to a 31.9 % increase in penicillin production [50]. Because fungi coexist with bacteria in the environment, so they must rely on chemical defense mechanisms due to their lack of an active immune system. It can be suggested that *A. nidulans* has adapted a QS process and uses a range of regulatory circuits to adjust gene expression and coordinate cell-to-cell interactions.

The identification of  $\gamma$ -heptalactone as a QS molecule in *A. nidulans* can be further explored and hence exploited by the biotechnology industry to enhance yields of penicillin production. In flavor and fragrance industries as shown above, this lactone is widely used in peach, nut, maple, almond, caramel, and cream flavors, for a creamy finish in most vanilla, and in coconut and gardenia fragrances.

#### 4.2.3 Multicolanic Acid 12 and Derivatives

Multicolanic, multicolosic, and multicolic acids were isolated by Gudgeon et al. [59] from *Penicillium sclerotiorum*. These compounds belong to a small group of chemicals called tetronic acid metabolites [60] which contain a  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone molecule. These  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone-containing compounds are synthesized by oxidative cleavage of an aromatic precursor 6-pentylresorcylate [61] and classified as hexaketides because of their polyketide origin [62].

In order to test whether  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone molecules produced by *P. sclerotiorum* exerted a physiological response in the cells, the effect of these potential quorumsensing molecules on sclerotiorin production in these fungus was investigated [51]. This study suggests that addition of spent medium containing the putative quorum-sensing molecules has the ability to initiate production of sclerotiorin in a low-sclerotiorin-producing strain. The presence of  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone-containing molecules (multicolic acid, multicolosic acid, multicolanic acid, and related derivatives) in the spent medium increased sclerotiorin yield (6.4-fold). These data suggest that addition of  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone molecules had created an environment for the cells to respond similarly to the conditions where the threshold cell concentration was achieved, allowing for the expression of genes under quorum-sensing control [51]. However, the chemical structure of the molecule(s) responsible for the regulation of sclerotiorin was not precisely determined in this study.

The investigation in the effect of multicolanic acid and derivatives (i.e., dimethyl-*O*-methylmulticolosate, dimethyl dihydromulticolosate, and methyl-*O*-methylmulticolate acetate) as QS molecules in *P. sclerotiorum* open up a possible new way to enhance the ability of sclerotiorin production of this fungus. Thereon,

sclerotiorin is known as an aldose reductase inhibitor as well as a potent reversible lipoxygenase inhibitor [63, 64].

# 4.3 Perspectives

Few findings of lactone-containing compounds acting as quorum sensing on fungi have opened up a new front in further investigating this question with the potential for further basic and applied research. Once the importance of quorum sensing is established in pathogenic fungi and the mechanistic details are uncovered, the value of QS pathways as potential therapeutic targets can be assessed [65]. Hence, further elucidation of the mechanisms of QS in these pathogens and its effects on various metabolic pathways will lead to a better understanding of fungal pathogenesis facilitating the development novel antifungal approaches to combat human diseases. The mechanism of signal transduction in QS may be clarified by identification of the receptor proteins to which the  $\gamma$ -lactone binds to on the cell surface to enable signal perception.

As said above, the role QS lactones have in the organisms was more studied in bacteria than in fungi. For example, a mechanism involved in signal transduction from the detection of  $\gamma$ -lactone substrates/N-acyl-homoserine lactones (NAHSL) signals to the transcription of the *qsdA* operon in *Rhodococcus erythropolis*; an environmental gram-positive bacterium was illustrated in the review of Latour et al. [66]. A similar mechanism is presumed to control the qsdA operon with  $\gamma$ -lactone in the role of tetracycline [66] (Fig. 6). In the absence of a  $\gamma$ -lactone source, the QsdR (quorum-sensing signal degradation) regulator protein forms dimers that bind to the operator region, switching off the biosynthesis of catabolic enzymes. But the presence of  $\gamma$ -lactone binding to *qsdR*, a putative TetR family transcriptional regulator gene, changes the conformation and causes TetR detachment from the operator region and results in the expression of the gene encoding catabolic enzymes.

The industrial exploitation of QS lactone-containing molecules requires an optimization of their production from producing strains. The possible medium conditions were identified to maximize the production of butyrolactone-I from a butyrolactone-overproducing strain (Bty345) that had been derived by mutagenesis from *Aspergillus terreus* ATCC 20542 and selected for increased butyrolactone production which was available in the Merck (Elkton, VA) culture collection [67]. In this study, the yield of butyrolactone-I using optimized medium concerning the source and concentration of carbon and nitrogen represents a tenfold increase over the butyrolactone-I produced using the original, basic medium.

# 5 Lactone Mycotoxins and Other Bioactive Macrocyclic Lactones

The large group of lactones, apart from compounds that are flavoring components of food products ( $\gamma$ - and  $\delta$ -lactones) [68, 69] or that reflect desirable aromas in the fragrance industry (coumarin, exaltolide) [70, 71] and that have been described



**Fig. 6** The *qsdA* operon of *R. erythropolis* and its putative mechanism of regulation (Adapted from Latour et al. [66])

above, comprises lactones of diversified biological activity, including toxic (carcinogenic, teratogenic, mutagenic) and antitumor or anti-inflammatory effect.

Lactones having biological properties, isolated from natural sources, are currently a subject of study of many research centers. Research laboratories conduct ongoing works on the isolation and identification of active lactones, determine relationships between the structure of compounds and their biological properties, and in many cases synthesize analogs of these compounds characterized by a higher activity and stronger effect or try to conduct their inactivation.

# 5.1 Lactone Mycotoxins

Some of naturally synthesized lactones exhibit strong toxic activity. They are mainly compounds which are low-molecular-weight (M < 1.5 kDa) secondary metabolites of filamentous fungi, or so-called mycotoxins, of different levels of toxicity both to humans and to animals, plants, and microorganisms. Toxic lactones can be stored as endotoxins in mycelium and conidia or can be excreted to the medium. These compounds cause contamination of raw materials and products of the food industry, fodders, and food of animal origin. The synthesis of lactones by molds is determined both genetically (metabolism of amino acids or fatty acids) and phenotypically (environmental factors).

In the group of mycotoxins, most of the studies were devoted to aflatoxins, comprising approximately 20 heterocyclic difuranceoumarin derivatives (coumarin is a lactone of O-hydroxycinnamic acid) produced by toxigenic strains of Aspergillus fungi, especially A. flavus, A. parasiticus, and A. nominus [72]. The pathway of biosynthesis of aflatoxins comprises at least 23 reactions catalyzed by enzymes. So far it was possible to identify 15 intermediates of these reactions. Genetic studies on the mechanism of the synthesis of aflatoxins by A. flavus and A. parasiticus allowed for cloning 29 genes responsible for the formation of enzymes necessary for this metabolic pathway [72, 73]. Aflatoxins are classified into two broad groups according to their chemical structure, and they include the difurocoumarocyclopentenone series (AFB<sub>1</sub>, AFB<sub>2</sub>, AFB<sub>2A</sub>, AFM<sub>1</sub>, AFM<sub>2</sub>, AFM<sub>2A</sub>, and aflatoxicol) and the difurocoumarolactone series (AFG<sub>1</sub>, AFG<sub>2</sub>, AFG<sub>2A</sub>, AFGM<sub>1</sub>, AFGM<sub>2</sub>,  $AFGM_{2A}$ , and  $AFB_3$ ) (Table 2) [74, 75]. These compounds have closely related structures (Scheme 4). Aflatoxin  $B_1$  is formed by, among others, a lactone ring, which is adjacent to a benzene ring and forms the same system as in coumarin, and two furan rings, including the extreme one with double bond. In aflatoxin  $G_1$  15 the extreme ring with the ketone moiety is enriched with one atom of oxygen to form a lactone ring. Aflatoxins  $B_2$  14 and  $G_2$  16 are hydroxyl derivatives of aflatoxins  $B_1$  13

Difuranocoumarins	Type of aflatoxin	Aspergillus species	
Difurocoumarocyclopentenone series	Aflatoxin B <sub>1</sub> <b>13</b> (AFB <sub>1</sub> )	A. flavus, A. arachidicola, A. bombycis, A. minisclerotigenes, A. nomius, A. ochraceoroseus, A. parasiticus, A. pseudotamarii, A. rambellii	
	Aflatoxin B <sub>2</sub> <b>14</b> (AFB <sub>2</sub> )	A. arachidicola, A. flavus, A. minisclerotigenes, A. nomius, A. parasiticus	
	Aflatoxin B <sub>2a</sub> (AFB <sub>2a</sub> )	A. flavus	
	Aflatoxin M <sub>1</sub> 17 (AFM <sub>1</sub> )	A. flavus, A. parasiticus	
	Aflatoxin M <sub>2</sub> 18 (AFM <sub>2</sub> )	Metabolite of aflatoxin B <sub>2</sub>	
	Aflatoxin M2A (AFM2A)	Metabolite of AFM <sub>2</sub>	
	Aflatoxicol (AFL)	A. <i>flavus</i> , metabolite of $AFB_1$	
Difurocoumarolactone series	Aflatoxin G <sub>1</sub> (AFG <sub>1</sub> )	A. arachidicola, A. flavus, A. minisclerotigenes, A. nomius, A. parasiticus	
	Aflatoxin G <sub>2</sub> (AFG <sub>2</sub> )	A. arachidicola, A. flavus, A. minisclerotigenes, A. nomius, A. parasiticus	
	Aflatoxin G <sub>2A</sub> (AFG <sub>2A</sub> )	Metabolite of AFG <sub>2</sub>	
	Aflatoxin GM <sub>1</sub> (AFGM <sub>1</sub> )	A. flavus	
	Aflatoxin GM <sub>2</sub> (AFGM <sub>2</sub> )	Metabolite of AFG <sub>2</sub>	
	AFGM <sub>2A</sub>	Metabolite of AFGM <sub>2</sub>	
	Aflatoxin B <sub>3</sub> (AFB <sub>3</sub> )	Aspergillus species not defined	

 Table 2 The most important aflatoxin produced by the Aspergillus species [10, 12, 77]

and  $G_1$  **15**, respectively, while aflatoxins  $M_1$  **17** and  $M_2$  **18** are 4-hydroxyderivatives of aflatoxins  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  [72]. Among the aforementioned mycotoxins, aflatoxin  $B_1$  is the most toxic. It is classified by the WHO as a group 1 carcinogen. Based on the toxicity, carcinogenicity, and mutagenicity of mycotoxic lactones of the aflatoxins group, they are classified in the following order:  $AFB_1 > AFM_1 > AFG_1 > AFB_2 > AFG_2$  [74, 76, 77].



The toxicity of these compounds is determined mainly by the lactone ring present in the coumarin moiety [78] and the double bond at position 8 and 9 of the furan ring. In the body, aflatoxins are transformed in the liver by cytochrome P450 enzymes into various metabolites and in case of AFB1 into particularly toxic AFB1-exo-8,9epoxide (AFBO). These compounds interact with nucleic acids such as DNA or RNA and interfere with protein synthesis and glycolysis pathway. The formation of DNA adducts contributes to genetic mutations and cancer [77, 79].

The reduction of double bond in the extreme furan ring and the opening of the lactone ring and decarboxylation of the resulting –COOH group are substantially important to reduce the toxicity of aflatoxins. Inactivation of aflatoxins by ring opening can be conducted using, among others, acid or base hydrolysis. Additionally, the increase in temperature under these conditions to approx. 100 °C results in the removal of the methoxy group from the aromatic ring. Other chemical factors which cause a decomposition of aflatoxin structure are sodium hypochlorite, chlorine, and oxidizing agents such as hydrogen peroxide, ozone, and sodium metabisulfite [75].

The group of mycotoxic lactones comprises also patulin **19** produced by fungi of the *Penicillium* and *Byssochlamys* species. This compound was first isolated in 1940 from the culture of *Penicillium patulum*. In terms of chemical structure, patulin is a bicyclic lactone of the name 4-hydroxy-4H-furo[3,2c]pyran-2(6H)-one, soluble in water [80, 81]. This compound is a polyketide metabolite, the first for which the polyketide pathway has been characterized, synthesized in a



**Scheme 3** Pathway of synthesis of patulin in *Penicillium* and *Aspergillus* sp. (Adapted from Puel et al. [82]). The Pat enzyme-encoding genes are organized in clusters in many fungi

10-step pathway, starting from 6-methylsalicylic acid (6MSA compound **20** in Scheme 3) formed by the condensation of acetyl-CoA with three units of malonyl-CoA (Scheme 3). The reaction is catalyzed by a multifunctional enzyme, composed of four identical polypeptide chains of 176 kDa each, having the activity of acetyl- and malonyltransferase, ketoacyl synthase, ketoreductase, and dehydratase [82].

In the initial period of the study, patulin was tested for antibiotic properties, but because of its strong neurotoxic and teratogenic activity discovered in a later period, it was excluded from clinical use and in 1960 qualified as a mycotoxin [80]. In 1986, this compound was recognized by the IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer) as a group 3 carcinogen. Patulin belongs to very reactive compounds that interact with nucleic acids and proteins. It exhibits strong affinity especially to thiol groups, which can result in severe damage to cells [82].

The process of detoxification of patulin employs chemical compounds based on oxidation and reduction of this lactone or the formation of less toxic thiol adducts. Detoxification of patulin using ammonia or potassium permanganate was performed with almost 100 % efficiency [83]. Sulfur dioxide was also an effective inhibitor of this toxin. At a concentration of 2000 ppm, a reaction of sulfur dioxide to the

hemiacetal ring of patulin, forming a carbonyl hydroxysulfonate and opening of the lactone ring structure at the double bond, was observed. Reduction of patulin toxicity was also possible thanks to the use of organic acids and vitamins, including ascorbic acid and vitamins of B group: thiamine hydrochloride, pyridoxine hydrochloride, and calcium-d-pantothenate [84].

A lactone with proven toxic properties, including carcinogenic properties, is penicillic acid **21** produced by fungi of the *Penicillium* and *Aspergillus* species. This compound was first isolated in 1913 from *Penicillium puberulum*. The carcinogenicity of this compound is determined by an  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ring with a conjugated double bond at position 4 [81]. Penicillic acid, similarly to patulin, is a carcinogenic factor of group 3 (IARC 1998) [85]. It has been proven that this compound induces DNA strand breaks in HeLa cells [86].



Mycotoxins produced by fungi of the Fusarium graminearum species (teleomorph Gibberella zeae) include zearalenone 22 (ZEN) - a lactone of resorcylic acid. chemically described as 6-(10-hydroxy-6-oxo-trans-1undecenyl)-\beta-resorcylic acid lactone [80]. This compound is synthesized in the polyketide pathway involving polyketide synthases (PKSs), which catalyze sequential condensation reactions of acetate units to polyketide [87]. Zearalenone belongs to the compounds which disrupt a normal activity of the reproductive system. Because of its estrogenic properties, it is referred to as a nonsteroidal estrogen or mycoestrogen. The molecular structure of ZEN and its derivatives ( $\alpha$ -zearalenol 24 [ $\alpha$ -ZEL],  $\beta$ -zearalenol 25 [ $\beta$ -ZEL],  $\alpha$ -zearalanol 26 [zeranol,  $\alpha$ -ZAL],  $\beta$ -zearalanol 27 [teranol,  $\beta$ -ZAL], and zearalanone 23 [ZAN]) determines their ability to bind to estrogen receptors. ZEN is absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract and metabolized to ZEL or conjugated with glucuronic acid [88]. Estrogenic activity of ZEN depends on metabolic processes occurring in the body and on the immunologic status of the reproductive system of the contaminated organisms. It was demonstrated that ZEN affects the maturation and degree of degeneration of oocytes depending on the dose and time of exposure. In vivo and in vitro studies also show that ZEN reduces the activity of many enzymes, including those that are involved in the process of steroidogenesis in animals and belong to cytochrome P450scc and hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases of 3β- or 17β-type and their isomers, which are involved in conversion process of pregnenolone to progesterone or estrone to estradiol. In recent years, exposure to ZEN is associated with the occurrence of hormone-dependent cancers, including breast, cervical, and prostate cancer [89, 90].



# 5.2 Other Bioactive Macrocyclic Lactones

The wide range of lactones includes a series of macrocyclic esters having a diversified biological activity, including antitumor, antimicrobial, antimalarial, or immunosuppressive activity [91]. They are a group of natural macrolides, synthesized in a pathway of polyketide synthase (PKS). Macrolides form a group of homologous compounds, which includes resorcylic acid lactones (RALs) (such as zearalenone and its derivatives) and dihydroxyphenylacetic acid lactones (DALs). Structurally RALs **28** and DALs **29** are formed by resorcinol fused to a lactone ring, at  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ - or  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -position, respectively.



Resorcinol macrolides were discovered in 1953, when radicicol **30**, known initially as monorden, was first isolated [92]. Radicicol was initially identified as an antifungal antibiotic, and later studies assigned to it also several other biological activities, including a mild sedative effect [93]. In 1992, a group of scientists from Harvard University showed the inhibitory effect of radicicol in relation to the oncogenic Src kinase [94, 95]. Subsequently it was demonstrated that radicicol is a strong and selective inhibitor of heat shock protein HSP90, responsible for maturation and stability of many other oncogenic cellular proteins. It was shown that it contributes to the inhibition of tumor cell growth and their apoptosis by blocking HSP90 (radicicol blocks the ATP bond in N-terminal pocket of HSP90, thus preventing the conversion into a mature complex) [96].

The family of resorcinol macrolides, which are conjugated *cis*-enones, comprises also other lactones of biological activity, including radicicol A **31**, LL-Z1640-2 **32**, and LL-783277 **33**. It was proved that these compounds inhibit irreversibly mitogen-activated protein kinases – MAP kinases, which are responsible for the regulation of many intracellular processes, including gene transcription, protein biosynthesis, cell division, cell differentiation, and survival or apoptosis [91]. Radicicol A inhibits the activity of cytokines IL-1 $\beta$  and accelerates the degradation of specific mRNA sequences containing adenylateuridylate-rich elements [97]. LL-Z1640-2 exhibits the inhibitory effect in relation to TAK1 kinase (transforming growth factor-activated kinase 1) (IC<sub>50</sub> = 8.1 nM) of the MAPK KK family [98] and ERK kinase (extracellular signalregulated kinase) (IC<sub>50</sub> = 8 nM) of the MAPK family [99], while L-783277 isolated from fungi of the *Phoma sp.* genus is characterized by a specific, strong inhibitory activity in relation to MEK1 kinase (4 nM) [100].



RALs which inhibit the activity of protein kinases include also hypothemycin **34**. This compound was first identified in 1980, after its isolation from the fungi *Hypomyces tricothecoides* [101]. Hypothemycin exhibits antifungal [102] and antimalarial activity, as well as cytotoxicity against various human cell lines [103]. According to a study of Fukazawa et al. [104], this compound contributes by binding cysteine, resulting to the inactivation of several protein kinases, including MEK1 (mitogen-activated protein kinase, whose activity is regulated by extracellular factors (IC50 15 nM)), ERK (extracellular signal-regulated kinase), and platelet-derived growth factor receptor. Solit et al. [101] demonstrated a strong activity of this lactone in the inhibition of protein BRAF mutation (BRAF V600E mutation is a point mutation, affecting the change in the protein activity, based on the replacement of valine 600 by glutamic acid). An analog of hypothemycin, 4-.-demethylhypothemycin **35**, isolated from *Hypomyces subiculosus* showed an equally strong cytotoxicity against a number of mutations of BRAF protein [105].



The group of less active lactones comprises also pochonins A–E **36–40**, isolated in 2003 from *Pochonia chlamydosporia* var. *catenulate* fungi. These compounds exhibit antiviral activity against, among others, herpes simplex virus 1 (the strongest activity is exhibited by pochonin C **38**) and are active against parasitic intestinal protozoa *Eimeria tenella* [106]. From 2009, the group of pochonins additionally comprises K–P analogs (K **41** L **42** N **43** O **44**) inhibiting expression of the WNT-5A protein and showing cytotoxicity against dermal papilla cells [107].



A diversified biological activity is also characteristic for aigialomycins A–E (A **45**, C **46**, D **47**), macrolides isolated in 2002 from a marine species of fungi – *Aigialus parvus*. Aigialomycin D has antimalarial activity (IC<sub>50</sub> 6.6  $\mu$ M) and exhibits cytotoxic effects against the cells of the KB type and BC-1 protein (which inhibits apoptosis) [108].



Another group of RALs comprises paecilomycins A **48**, B **49**, E **50**, F **50** [109], G-I **51–53** [110], and J–M [111] isolated from the solid medium of the fungus *Paecilomyces* sp. SC0924 in the years 2010–2013. These compounds exhibit inhibitory activity against a protozoan of the *Plasmodium* genus – *Plasmodium falciparum* – causing the most severe form of malaria in humans. Paecilomycin E is a strong inhibitor of the 3D7 strain of *Plasmodium falciparum* (IC<sub>50</sub> 20 nM), while paecilomycin F inhibits the proliferation of the Dd2 strain.



Neocosmosins A–C **54–55** belong to another recently identified group of resorcylic acid lactones synthesized by fungi of the *Neocosmospora* genus. These compounds, especially neocosmosin C, exhibit activity of agonists of opioid and cannabinoid receptors [112].



In 2011, the group of Shao [113] managed to determine the structure of three natural lactones – cochliomycins A–C **56–58** isolated from a broth culture of the *Cochliobolus lunatus* fungus originated from a gorgonian *Dichotella gemmacea* inhabiting the South China Sea. The studies involving cochliomycins showed,

among others, antibacterial activity of these compounds. It was demonstrated that these lactones exhibit inhibitory activity against bacteria *Staphylococcus aureus* and a lichen organism *Balanus amphitrite*.



The family of lactones also comprises compounds which influence, among others, the regulation of plant growth. This activity was assigned to 12-membered RALs – lasiodiplodin 59 and de-O-methyllasiodiplodin 60, first isolated in 1971 from the culture broth of fungi Lasiodiplodia theobromae [114, 115]. Later, both these lactones were also identified in plants. Based on several studies, it was demonstrated that lasiodiplodin exhibits an antileukemic activity, while de-Omethyllasiodiplodin was recognized, among others, to be an inhibitor of prostaglandin synthesis [116], a potential inhibitor of pancreatic lipase (IC 4.5  $\mu$ M), and an antagonist of mineralocorticoid receptors, which may be effective in the treatment of hypertension and other cardiovascular disorders [117]. In 2011 also, a cytotoxic activity of de-O-methyllasiodiplodin against the KB (nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line), BC1, and NCI-H187 (retinoblastoma cell line) cell lines was demonstrated [118]. According to the team of Buayairaks et al. [118], the group of lasiodiplodin derivatives comprises also 6-oxo-de-O-methyllasiodiplodin 62, (3R),(5R)-5hydroxy-de-O-methyllasiodiplodin, and (3R), (5S)-5-hydroxy-de-O-methyllasiodiplodin 61 isolated from fungi Syncephalastrum racemosum. To the latter lactone, a toxic activity against several tumors cells is attributed, especially against cholangiocarcinoma KKU-M139, KKU-M156, and KKU-M213.



(3R),(5S)-5-hydroxy-de-O-methyllasiodiplodin 6-oxo-de-O-methyllasiodiplodin

Further RALs are two isomers, *trans-* **63** and *cis*-resorcylide **64**, isolated from fungi of the *Penicillium spp*. [119], *Pyrenophora teres* [120], and *Acremonium zeae* [121] genera, which also exhibit a broad biological activity. These lactones are

regarded as inhibitors of plant growth (*trans*-resorcylide isomer exhibits about tenfold stronger inhibitory activity than *cis*- isomer). Furthermore, *trans*-resorcylide is cytotoxic against a wide range of cancer cell lines, is considered to be an inhibitor of 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase (a key enzyme in the catabolism of prostaglandins), and is characterized by antimicrobial activity against *Pyricularia oryzae* [122]. *Cis*-isomer exhibits inhibitory activity against the coagulation factor XIIIa, responsible for the stabilization of fibrin [123].



Dihydroresorcylide **65** is a saturated analog of *cis*-resorcylide. It was identified by the team of Polling et al. [121] in an endophyte *Acremonium zeae*. Previous studies of this macrolide demonstrated its antifungal activity [124].

Lactones which are interesting in terms of their structure and biological activity are (3R, 5R)-sonnerlactone **66** and its diastereoisomer (3R, 5S)-sonnerlactone **67** colonizing a plant *Sonneratia apetala* [125]. Sonnerlactones exhibit antiproliferative activity against oral cavity cancer cell lines, resistant to numerous drugs.



The group of DAL macrolides which are derivatives of dihydroxyphenylacetic acid lactones comprises a number of compounds of various biological activities, including curvularin **68**, 10,11-dehydrocurvularin 69, and two epimers  $11-\alpha$ -methoxycurvularin 70 and  $11-\beta$ - methoxycurvularin 71. These lactones were identified in several fungal species, including Penicillium sp. such as Penicillium citreoviride [126–128], Curvularia sp. [129], Chrysosporium lobatum [130], Eupenicillium sp. [131], and Nectria galligena [132]. Curvularin is characterized by an antibiotic activity against numerous fungal species. It is an inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase [96] and an effective anti-inflammatory compound, inhibiting Janus kinases, which allows for its use in the development of drugs against chronic rheumatoid conditions [127]. Both curvularin and 10,11-dehydrocurvularin exhibit similar levels of cytotoxicity against several cancer cell lines including breast (MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7), cervical (HeLa), and lung (A549) cancer cell lines. In addition, 10,11-dehydrocurvularin is active against colon cancer cell line COLO 205 [130]. The other two abovementioned compounds of the curvularin group are also characterized by cytotoxic activity against, among others, lung NCI-H460, breast MCF-7, and pancreatic MIA Pa Ca-2 cancer cell lines [96, 130, 131].

A lactone of the DAL group, obtained in the polyketide synthase (PKS) pathway, is also citreofuran **72**. This compound is a metabolite of a hybrid strain *Penicillium citreoviride* ME 0005, isolated by Nakada and Yamamura [133]. However, its biological activity has not been reported yet.

Sporostatin **73** is another example of a mycotoxic lactone, isolated from the fungus *Sporormiella* M5032. This compound exhibits strong inhibitory activity against tyrosine kinase of epidermal growth factor receptor. In addition, it is an inhibitor of a phosphodiesterase specific for cyclic adenosine-3',5'-monophosphate [134].



The DAL family also comprises xestodecalactones A–C **74–76**, isolated from the fungus *Penicillium cf. montanense* originated from marine sponges *Xestospongia exigua* [135], and D–F **77–79**, identified in fungi *Corynespora cassiicola* [136]. These compounds exhibit antifungal activity, and xestodecalactone B inhibits the growth of, among others, fungi *Candida albicans* [135].



This review of macrocyclic lactones indicates a diversified structure and broad spectrum of biological activity. Valuable biological properties of lactones isolated from natural sources are the inspiration for the research works related both to the isolation of consecutive natural lactones occurring in nature and to the synthesis of new compounds containing lactone moiety in their molecules. Given the increasing

number of people suffering from cancer and continuous mutations of pathogenic microorganisms, it is understandable that many research centers began the search for natural and synthetic biologically active compounds, which in the future may become approved drugs.

# 6 Fungal Biocatalysts

Some of the fungal systems described above are used out of fungal metabolism for biotechnological applications. It is the case for Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases, lactonases, and the polyketide synthase pathways, although more applications have been carried out from bacterial systems.

# 6.1 Baeyer–Villiger Monooxygenases

Baeyer–Villiger (BV) oxidation which consists in the transformation of a linear or cyclic ketone into its corresponding ester or lactone by insertion of an oxygen atom next to the carbonyl group is a precious reaction for oxidation of carbon chains or cycles (Scheme 4). The chemical reaction has been first described in 1899 by Baeyer and Villiger. In its traditional chemical catalysis, this reaction is not enantioselective, and catalysts are thus required that can result in enantiopure lactones. This property is exhibited by enzymes that are called Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases (BVMOs – EC 1.14.13.x). First described in 1953 after studies on the degradation of steroids [137, 138], most of the known enzymes are bacterial, and the amount of studies resulted in a characterization of the enzyme



**Scheme 4** Some lactone-related reactions catalyzed by Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases. From left to right: the much studied (in *Acinetobacter* sp.) cyclohexanone oxygenation and the oxygenation of cyclopentadecanone, a macrocyclic ketone, in a way different from what described in (2), of androstenedione (steroid), and of hydroxyversicolorone (aflatoxin precursor) (Inspired from Torres Pazmiño et al. [144]

with the identification of a sequence motif [139] and a better knowledge of the role of BVMOs in metabolic pathways. All this aimed at developing biotechnological applications especially toward the enzymatic properties of regioselectivity and stereopecificity. Many important reactions can be catalyzed by BMVOs (Scheme 4). Recent work aimed at using directed evolution techniques to modify BVMOs and find new activities. It was thus found that a modification of only one amino acid could turn the BVMO of *Thermobifida fusca* into a NADPH oxidase [140], but some works have also been carried out to find new activities through chemical screening, genome mining, or evolution studies [141]. Several reviews on chemical and biotechnological applications of BVMO have been published [10, 12, 142–144], but most of them concerned bacterial catalysis. Although fungal BVMOs have been discovered in early research on the subject, the number of characterized fungal BVMOs is still low, although new attention has been devoted to these organisms with the possibility of genome mining investigation [145].

# 6.2 Lactonases

Due to the important place that lactones have in microbial metabolism, enzymes exhibiting the capability to catalyze their degradation through the opening of the cycle are important. The opening of the ring takes place usually through the hydrolysis of the ester bond, and enzymes able to open this belong to the esterase family and are called also lactonases. Different lactone rings can be hydrolyzed with lactonase catalysis, and an example is given Fig. 3 on the degradation of limonene which is first oxidized into a lactone with a BMVO catalysis and then hydrolyzed by a lactonase [13]. Like other esterases, lactonases may be highly enantiospecific which results in biotechnological applications in the resolution of racemics. As an example, lactonases are used for the resolution of racemics of pantoyl lactone (Scheme 5) (this example is related in the review on lactonases by [7]). Lactonases of *Fusarium oxysporum* or from *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* can be used, reaching the different enantiomers with enantiomeric excess (ee) at about 90–95 %. However, for the industrial reaction, it was easier to work with *Fusarium* lactonase and to immobilize it to keep activity.

### 6.3 The Polyketide Synthase Pathway

This system has been developed as a modular enzyme system enabling technologists to select the interesting activities to synthesize molecules. In terms of biocatalysis, this system is probably one of the most complex system developed. Several reviews have reported the advances in the field [9, 146, 148]. However, this part will not be developed in the present review as those megasynthases concern the bacterial system and not the fungal one.



**Scheme 5** Resolution of D/L-pantoyl lactone racemic with *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* lactonases

# 7 Conclusion

Lactones are important bioactive compounds for fungi. They play a significant role in fungal ecology as communication and antimicrobial molecules, but they have also a great impact on our lives through mycotoxins and can also be involved in positive aspects of human health as some compounds are active against cancer cells and other diseases. Beside health, many lactones are active on human senses such as flavor and fragrance lactones that can be produced by fungi in a natural way. In addition, pathways of production of lactones,  $\beta$ - and  $\omega$ -oxidation, polyketide synthases, Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases, and lactonases have been studied to understand and control the synthesis of fungal lactones, but they can also be used for industrial synthesis of building blocks or fine chemicals as they exhibit interesting properties for region-specific and region-selective oxidation.

### References

- 1. Romero-Guido C et al (2011) Biochemistry of lactone formation in yeast and fungi and its utilisation for the production of flavour and fragrance compounds. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 89(3):535–547
- 2. Fickers P et al (2005) Hydrophobic substrate utilization by the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*, and its potential applications. FEMS Yeast Res 5(6–7):527–543
- 3. Waché Y (2013) Production of dicarboxylic acids and flagrances by *Yarrowia lipolytica*. In: Barth G (ed) *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg
- 4. Furuya T, Kino K (2010) Genome mining approach for the discovery of novel cytochrome P450 biocatalysts. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86(4):991–1002
- Farbood MJ, Mc Lean LB, Morris JA, Bondarovich HA (1992) Octalactone-containing composition, fermentation process for producing same and organoleptic uses thereof. Patent US 5112803 A

- 6. Waché Y et al (2003) Catabolism of hydroxyacids and production of lactones by the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 61:393–404
- 7. Kataoka M et al (2007) Microbial enzymes involved in lactone compound metabolism and their biotechnological applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 75(2):257–266
- 8. Mattern DJ et al (2015) Synthetic biology of fungal natural products. Front Microbiol 6:775
- Jenke-Kodama H, Dittmann E (2009) Evolution of metabolic diversity: Insights from microbial polyketide synthases. Phytochemistry 70(15–16):1858–1866
- de Gonzalo G, Mihovilovic MD, Fraaije MW (2010) Recent developments in the application of Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases as biocatalysts. ChemBioChem 11(16):2208–2231
- 11. Beier A et al (2014) Metabolism of alkenes and ketones by *Candida maltosa* and related yeasts. AMB Express 4:75–75
- Cheng Q, Thomas S, Rouvière P (2002) Biological conversion of cyclic alkanes and cyclic alcohols into dicarboxylic acids: biochemical and molecular basis. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 58(6):704–711
- 13. Wang Y et al (2014) Gene discovery for enzymes involved in limonene modification or utilization by the mountain pine Beetle-associated pathogen *Grosmannia clavigera*. Appl Environ Microbiol 80(15):4566–4576
- 14. Wanikawa A et al (2000) Detection of gamma-lactones in malt whisky. J Inst Brew 106 (1):39-43
- Wanikawa A, Hosoi K, Kato T (2000) Conversion of unsaturated fatty acids to precursors of gamma-lactones by lactic acid bacteria during the production of malt whisky. J Am Soc Brew Chem 58(2):51–56
- Okui S, Uchiyama M, Mizugaki M (1963) Metabolism of hydroxy fatty acids: 2. Intermediates of the oxidative breakdown of ricinoleic acid by Genus *Candida*. J Biochem 54(6):536–540
- Gatfield IL (1999) Biotechnological production of natural flavor materials. In: Teranishi R, Wick EL, Hornstein I (eds) Flavor chemistry, thirty years of progress. Kluwer Academic/ Plenum, New York
- Broun P et al (1998) Catalytic plasticity of fatty acid modification enzymes underlying chemical diversity of plant lipids. Science 282(5392):1315–1317
- Blin-Perrin C et al (2000) Metabolism of ricinoleic acid into -decalactone: -oxidation and long chain acyl intermediates of ricinoleic acid in the genus *Sporidiobolus* sp. FEMS Microbiol Lett 188(1):69–74
- Waché Y et al (2001) Role of β-oxidation enzymes in the production of γ-decalactones from methyl ricinoleate. Appl Environ Microbiol 67(12):5700–5704
- Waché Y et al (2000) Involvement of acyl-CoA oxidase isozymes in biotransformation of methyl ricinoleate into γ-decalactone by *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Appl Environ Microbiol 66 (3):1233–1236
- 22. Waché Y et al (1998) Acyl-CoA oxidase, a key step for lactone production by *Yarrowia lipolytica*. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 149(5):165–169
- 23. Groguenin A et al (2004) Genetic engineering of the beta-oxidation pathway in the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* to increase the production of aroma compounds. J Mol Catal B 28 (2–3):75–79
- 24. Escamilla García E et al (2007) Effect of acyl-CoA oxidase activity on the accumulation of gamma-decalactone by the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*: a factorial approach. Biotechnol J 2 (10):1280–1285
- 25. Dufossé L et al (1999) In situ detoxification of the fermentation medium during gammadecalactone production with the yeast sporidiobolus salmonicolor. Biotechnol Prog 15 (1):135–139
- 26. Dufossé LH, Souchon I, Féron G, Latrasse A, Spinnler HE (1997) Strategies to overcome toxicity during flavour production by micro-organisms: The case of gamma-decalactone from *Sporidiobolus salmonicolor*. In: Flavours and sensory related aspects. Presented at International Symposium on Flavours and Sensory related aspects. Rivista Italiana EPPOS. 284–298. http://prodinra.inra.fr/record/135179

- 27. Souchon I et al (1998) Trapping of gamma-decalactone by adsorption on hydrophobic sorbents: application to the bioconversion of methyl ricinoleate by the yeast *Sporidiobolus salmonicolor*. Biotechnol Tech 12(2):109–113
- 28. Escamilla-García E et al (2014) An air-lift biofilm reactor for the production of γ-decalactones by *Yarrowia lipolytica*. Process Biochem 49(9):1377–1382
- 29. Escamilla García E et al (2009) Production of 3-hydroxy-γ-decalactone, the precursor of two decenolides with flavouring properties, by the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. J Mol Catal B: Enzym 57(1–4):22–26
- 30. Escamilla García E, Belin J-M, Waché Y (2007) Use of a Doehlert factorial design to investigate the effects of pH and aeration on the accumulation of lactones by *Yarrowia lipolytica*. J Appl Microbiol 103(5):1508–1515
- An J-U, Oh D-K (2013) Increased production of γ-lactones from hydroxy fatty acids by whole Waltomyces lipofer cells induced with oleic acid. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97 (18):8265–8272
- 32. Oh DK, Joo YC (2013) Method and composition for high-yield preparation of gammadodecalactone from hydroxy fatty acids
- 33. Frater G, Bajgrowicz J, Kraft P (1998) Fragrance chemistry. Tetrahedron 54(27):7633-7703
- 34. Sommer C (2004) The role of musk and musk compounds in the fragrance industry. In: Rimkus GG (ed) Synthetic musk fragrances in the environment. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg
- Picataggio S et al (1992) Metabolic engineering of *Candida tropicalis* for the production of long chain dicarboxylic acids. Biotechnology 10:894–898
- 36. Picataggio S, Rohrer T, Eirich LD (1997) Method for increasing the omega-hydroxylase activity in *Candida tropicalis*. Patent US 5620878 A
- 37. Kogure T et al (2007) Enhanced induction of cytochromes P450alk that oxidize methyl-ends of n-alkanes and fatty acids in the long-chain dicarboxylic acid-hyperproducing mutant of *Candida maltosa*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 271(1):106–111
- 38. Hornby JM et al (2001) Quorum sensing in the dimorphic fungus *Candida albicans* is mediated by Farnesol. Appl Environ Microbiol 67(7):2982–2992
- 39. Chen H et al (2004) Tyrosol is a quorum-sensing molecule in *Candida albicans*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(14):5048–5052
- Schimmel TG, Coffman AD, Parsons SJ (1998) Effect of butyrolactone i on the producing fungus, *Aspergillus terreus*. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(10):3707–3712
- Calvo AM et al (2002) Relationship between secondary metabolism and fungal development. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 66(3):447–459
- Tsitsigiannis DI, Keller NP (2007) Oxylipins as developmental and host-fungal communication signals. Trends Microbiol 15(3):109–118
- 43. Safari M et al (2014) Microbial metabolism of quorum-sensing molecules acyl-homoserine lactones, γ-heptalactone and other lactones. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(8):3401–3412
- 44. Pearson JP et al (1995) A second N-acylhomoserine lactone signal produced by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(5):1490–1494
- 45. Fuqua C, Parsek MR, Greenberg EP (2001) Regulation of gene expression by cell-to-cell communication: acyl-homoserine lactone quorum sensing. Annu Rev Genet 35(1):439–468
- 46. Beppu T (1992) Secondary metabolites as chemical signals for cellular differentiation. Gene 115(1–2):159–165
- 47. Albuquerque P, Casadevall A (2012) Quorum sensing in fungi a review. Med Mycol 50 (4):337–345
- Waters CM, Bassler BL (2005) QUORUM SENSING: cell-to-cell communication in bacteria. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 21(1):319–346
- Winzer K, Hardie KR, Williams P (2002) Bacterial cell-to-cell communication: sorry, can't talk now — gone to lunch! Curr Opin Microbiol 5(2):216–222
- 50. Williams H et al (2012) γ-Heptalactone is an endogenously produced quorum-sensing molecule regulating growth and secondary metabolite production by *Aspergillus nidulans*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96(3):773–781

- 51. Raina S et al (2012) Is quorum sensing involved in lovastatin production in the filamentous fungus *Aspergillus terreus*? Process Biochem 47(5):843–852
- 52. Palonen E et al (2014) Butyrolactone I quantification from lovastatin producing *Aspergillus terreus* using tandem mass spectrometry—evidence of signalling functions. Microorganisms 2 (2):111
- Tobert JA (2003) Lovastatin and beyond: the history of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2(7):517–526
- Furberg CD et al (1994) Effect of lovastatin on early carotid atherosclerosis and cardiovascular events. Asymptomatic Carotid Artery Progression Study (ACAPS) Research Group. Circulation 90(4):1679–1687
- 55. Ohashi H et al (1997) Sulochrin inhibits eosinophil degranulation. J Antibiot 50(11): 972–974
- 56. Kitagawa M et al (1993) Butyrolactone I, a selective inhibitor of cdk2 and cdc2 kinase. Oncogene 8(9):2425–2432
- 57. Suzuki M et al (1999) Butyrolactone I induces cyclin B1 and causes G2/M arrest and skipping of mitosis in human prostate cell lines. Cancer Lett 138(1):121–130
- 58. Ramón D et al (1987) Cloning and characterization of the isopenicillin N synthetase gene mediating the formation of the  $\beta$ -lactam ring in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Gene 57(2): 171–181
- 59. Gudgeon JA et al (1979) The structures and biosynthesis of multicolanic, multicolic, and multicolosic acids, novel tetronic acid metabolites of penicillium multicolor. Bioorg Chem 8 (3):311–322
- 60. Gedge DR, Pattenden G (1979) Structure and stereochemistry of multicolanic, multicolic, and multicolosic acids, 4-ylidenetetronic acid metabolites from *Penicillium multicolor*. Synthesis of methyl (E)-O-methylmulticolanate. Je Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1:89–91
- 61. Holker JSE et al (1987) Biosynthesis of multicolosic acid, a polyketide metabolite from Penicillium multicolor: occurrence of large 18O-induced [small beta]-isotope shifts in 13C n.m.r. spectra. J Chem Soc Chem Commun (14):1099–1100
- 62. Tuner WB, Aldridge DC (1983) Fungal metabolites II. Academic, London
- Chidananda C, Rao LJ, Sattur AP (2006) Sclerotiorin, from Penicillium frequentans, a potent inhibitor of aldose reductase. Biotechnol Lett 28(20):1633–1636
- Chidananda C, Sattur AP (2007) Sclerotiorin, a novel inhibitor of lipoxygenase from Penicillium frequentans. J Agric Food Chem 55(8):2879–2883
- Hogan DA (2006) Talking to themselves: autoregulation and quorum sensing in fungi. Eukaryot Cell 5(4):613–619
- 66. Latour X et al (2013) Rhodococcus erythropolis and its  $\gamma$ -lactone catabolic pathway: an unusual biocontrol system that disrupts pathogen quorum sensing communication. Agronomy 3(4):816
- Schimmel TG, Parsons SJ (1999) High purity, high yield procedure for butyrolactone I production from *Aspergillus terreus*. Biotechnol Tech 13(6):379–384
- 68. Dufossé L, Latasse A, Spinnler HE (1994) Importance des lactones dans les arômes alimentaires: structure, distribution, propriétés sensorielles. Sci Aliment 14(1):19–50
- 69. Parker J, Elmore S, Methven L (2014) Flavour development, analysis and perception in food and beverages. Elsevier, Oxford
- Nakata H, Hinosaka M, Yanagimoto H (2015) Macrocyclic-, polycyclic-, and nitro musks in cosmetics, household commodities and indoor dusts collected from Japan: implications for their human exposure. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 111:248–255
- McGinty D, Letizia CS, Api AM (2011) Fragrance material review on 16-hydroxy-7hexadecenoic acid lactone. Food Chem Toxicol 49(Suppl 2):S149–S151
- Sweeney MJA, Dobson DW (1998) Mycotoxin production by Aspergillus, Fusarium and Penicillium species. Int J Food Microbiol 43(3):141–158
- Bennett JW, Chang PK, Bhatnagar D (1997) One gene to whole pathway: the role of norsolorinic acid in aflatoxin research. Adv Appl Microbiol 45:1–15

- 74. Bbosa GS, Kitya D, Lubega A, Ogwal-Okeng J, Anokbonggo WW, Kyegombe DB (2013) Review of the biological and health effects of aflatoxins on body organs and body systems 12:239–265
- 75. Reddy S, Waliyar F (2012) Properties of aflatoxin and its producing fungi. Aflatoxins. Available from: http://www.icrisat.org/aflatoxin/aflatoxin.asp
- 76. Genderen Hv (1996) Adverse effects of naturally occurring nonnutritive substances. In: John V (ed) Food safety and toxicity. CRC Press, Heerlen, The Netherlands
- Oliviera CAF, Bovo F, Corassin CH, Jager AV, Reddy KR (2013) Recent trends in microbiological decontamination of aflatoxins in foodstuffs 4:59–92
- Nicolás-Vázquez I et al (2010) Role of lactone ring in structural, electronic, and reactivity properties of aflatoxin B1: a theoretical study. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 59(3):393–406
- Bbosa GS et al (2013) Aflatoxins metabolism, effects on epigenetic mechanisms and their role in carcinogenesis. Health 5(10):21
- 80. Bennett JW, Klich M (2003) Mycotoxins. Clin Microbiol Rev 16(3):497-516
- Ciegler A, Detroy RW, Lillejoj EB (1971) Patulin, penicillic acid and other carcinogenic lactones. In Ciegler A, Kadis S, Ajl SJ (eds). Microbial toxins, vol. VI: fungal toxins, pp 409–434. Academic Press, New York
- Puel O, Galtier P, Oswald IP (2010) Biosynthesis and toxicological effects of patulin. Toxins 2 (4):613–631
- Frémy JM et al (1995) Procedures for destruction of patulin in laboratory wastes. Food Addit Contam 12(3):331–336
- Moake MM, Padilla-Zakour OI, Worobo RW (2005) Comprehensive review of patulin control methods in foods. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 4(1):8–21
- Sorenson WG, Simpson J (1986) Toxicity of penicillic acid for rat alveolar macrophages in vitro. Environ Res 41(2):505–513
- Klarić M, Rašić D, Peraica M (2013) Deleterious effects of mycotoxin combinations involving ochratoxin A. Toxins 5(11):1965
- 87. Kim Y-T et al (2005) Two different polyketide synthase genes are required for synthesis of zearalenone in *Gibberella zeae*. Mol Microbiol 58(4):1102–1113
- 88. Zinedine A et al (2007) Review on the toxicity, occurrence, metabolism, detoxification, regulations and intake of zearalenone: an oestrogenic mycotoxin. Food Chem Toxicol 45 (1):1–18
- Belhassen H et al (2015) Zearalenone and its metabolites in urine and breast cancer risk: a case-control study in Tunisia. Chemosphere 128:1–6
- Coffey DS (2001) Similarities of prostate and breast cancer: evolution, diet, and estrogens. Urology 57(4):31–38
- 91. Winssinger N, Barluenga S (2007) Chemistry and biology of resorcylic acid lactones. Chem Commun 1:22–36
- Delmotte P, Delmotte-Plaque J (1953) A new antifungal substance of fungal origin. Nature 171 (4347):344
- McCapra F et al (1964) The constitution of monorden, an antibiotic with tranquilising action. Tetrahedron Lett 5(15):869–875
- 94. Kwon HJ et al (1992) Radicicol, an agent inducing the reversal of transformed phenotypes of src-transformed fibroblasts. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 56(3):538–539
- 95. Kwon HJ et al (1992) Potent and specific inhibition of p60v-src protein kinase both in vivo and in vitro by radicicol. Cancer Res 52(24):6926–6930
- 96. Xu J et al (2014) Recent progress regarding the bioactivities, biosynthesis and synthesis of naturally occurring resorcinolic macrolides. Acta Pharmacol Sin 35(3):316–330
- 97. Kastelic T et al (1996) Induction of rapid IL- $\beta$  mRNA degradation in THP-1 cells mediated through the AU-rich region in the 3'UTR by a radicicol analogue. Cytokine 8(10):751–761
- Ninomiya-Tsuji J et al (2003) A resorcylic acid lactone, 5Z-7-oxozeaenol, prevents inflammation by inhibiting the catalytic activity of TAK1 MAPK kinase kinase. J Biol Chem 278 (20):18485–18490

- 99. Ohori M et al (2007) Role of a cysteine residue in the active site of ERK and the MAPKK family. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 353(3):633–637
- 100. Zhao A et al (1999) Resorcylic acid lactones: naturally occurring potent and selective inhibitors of MEK. J Antibiot 52:1086–1094
- 101. Solit DB et al (2006) BRAF mutation predicts sensitivity to MEK inhibition. Nature 439 (7074):358-362
- 102. Nair MSRSTC, Carey ST (1980) Metabolites of pyrenomycetes XIII: structure of (+) hypothemycin, an antibiotic macrolide from Hypomyces trichothecoides. Tetrahedron Lett 21(21):2011–2012
- 103. Agatsuma T et al (1993) Revised structure and stereochemistry of hypothemycin. Chem Pharm Bull 41(2):373–375
- 104. Fukazawa H et al (2010) The resorcylic acid lactone hypothemycin selectively inhibits the mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase-extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway in cells. Biol Pharm Bull 33(2):168–173
- 105. Wee JL et al (2006) Cytotoxic hypothemycin analogues from Hypomyces subiculosus. J Nat Prod 69(10):1456–1459
- 106. Hellwig V et al (2003) Pochonins A F, new antiviral and antiparasitic resorcylic acid lactones from Pochonia chlamydosporia var. catenulata. J Nat Prod 66(6):829–837
- 107. Shinonaga H et al (2009) Pochonins K–P: new radicicol analogues from Pochonia chlamydosporia var. chlamydosporia and their WNT-5A expression inhibitory activities. Tetrahedron 65(17):3446–3453
- 108. Isaka M et al (2002) Aigialomycins A E, new resorcylic macrolides from the marine mangrove fungus Aigialus parvus. J Org Chem 67(5):1561–1566
- 109. Xu L et al (2010)  $\beta\text{-resorcylic}$  acid lactones from a Paecilomyces fungus. J Nat Prod 73 (5):885–889
- 110. Xu L et al (2012) Three new  $\beta$ -resorcylic acid lactones from Paecilomyces sp. SC0924. Chin J Chem 30(6):1273–1277
- 111. Xu L-X et al (2013) Paecilomycins J–M, four new β-resorcylic acid lactones from Paecilomyces sp. SC0924. Tetrahedron Lett 54(21):2648–2650
- 112. Gao J et al (2013) Neocosmospora sp.-derived resorcylic acid lactones with in vitro binding affinity for human opioid and cannabinoid receptors. J Nat Prod 76(5):824–828
- 113. Shao C-L et al (2011) Potent antifouling resorcylic acid lactones from the gorgonian-derived fungus *Cochliobolus lunatus*. J Nat Prod 74(4):629–633
- 114. Aldridge DC et al (1971) Metabolites of *Lasiodiplodia theobromae*. J Chem Soc C: Org (0): 1623–1627
- 115. Kashima T et al (2009) Biosynthesis of resorcylic acid lactone Lasiodiplodia in *Lasiodiplodia theobromae*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 73(5):1118–1122
- 116. Leet K-H et al (1982) Lasiodiplodin, a potent antileukemic macrolide from Euphorbia splendens. Phytochemistry 21(5):1119–1121
- 117. Xin-Sheng Y et al (1983) Structure of arnebinol, a new ANSA-type monoterpenylbenzenoid with inhibitory effect to prostaglandin biosynthesis. Tetrahedron Lett 24(23):2407–2410
- 118. Buayairaksa M et al (2011) Cytotoxic lasiodiplodin derivatives from the fungus Syncephalastrum racemosum. Arch Pharm Res 34(12):2037–2041
- Oyama H, Sassa T, Ikeda M (1978) Structures of new plant growth inhibitors, *trans-* and *cis*resorcylide. Agric Biol Chem 42(12):2407–2409
- 120. Xu Y et al (2014) Insights into the biosynthesis of 12-membered resorcylic acid lactones from heterologous production in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. ACS Chem Biol 9(5):1119–1127
- 121. Poling SM et al (2008) Acremonium zeae, a protective endophyte of maize, produces dihydroresorcylide and 7-hydroxydihydroresorcylides. J Agric Food Chem 56(9):3006–3009
- 122. Sassa T, Nukina M, Ikeda M (1981) Electrophilic reactivities and biological activities of transand cis-resorcylides. Nippon Kagaku Kaishi: 883–885
- 123. West RR et al (1996) Cis-resorcylide, pharmaceutical composition containing it, and use thereof in the treatment of thrombosis and related disorders. Patent WO 9640671

- 124. Rogers KD (2011) Chemical investigations of fungicolous and endophytic fungi. University of Iowa, Iowa
- 125. Li K-K et al (2010) The metabolites of mangrove endophytic fungus Zh6B1 from the South China Sea. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 20(11):3326–3328
- 126. Zhan J et al (2012) A new anthraquinone and cytotoxic curvularins of a Penicillium sp. from the rhizosphere of Fallugia paradoxa of the Sonoran desert. J Antibiot 57:341–344
- 127. Schmidt N et al (2012) The anti-inflammatory fungal compound (S)-curvularin reduces proinflammatory gene expression in an in vivo model of rheumatoid arthritis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 343(1):106–114
- 128. Lai S et al (1989) Novel curvularin-type metabolites of a hybrid strain ME 0005 derived from penicillium citreo-viride B. IFO 6200 and 4692. Tetrahedron Lett 30(17):2241–2244
- 129. Dai J et al (2010) Curvularin-type metabolites from the fungus Curvularia sp. Isolated from a marine alga. Eur J Org Chemy 2010(36):6928–6937
- 130. Kumar CG et al (2013) Metabolite profiling and biological activities of bioactive compounds produced by Chrysosporium lobatum strain BK-3 isolated from Kaziranga National Park, Assam, India. SpringerPlus 2(1):122
- 131. Xie L et al (2009) Isolation and difference in anti-Staphylococcus aureus bioactivity of curvularin derivates from fungus Eupenicillium sp. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 159(1):284–293
- 132. Gutiérrez M et al (2005) Bioactive metabolites from the fungus *Nectria galligena*, the main apple canker agent in Chile. J Agric Food Chem 53(20):7701–7708
- 133. Nakada T, Yamamura S (2000) Three new metabolites of hybrid strain KO 0231, derived from Penicillium citreo-viride IFO 6200 and 4692. Tetrahedron 56(17):2595–2602
- 134. Murakami Y et al (1999) Sporostatin, a novel and specific inhibitor of EGF receptor kinase. Anticancer Res 19(5B):4145–4149
- 135. Edrada RA et al (2002) Online analysis of xestodecalactones A–C, novel bioactive metabolites from the fungus Penicillium cf. montanense and their subsequent isolation from the sponge Xestospongia exigua. J Nat Prod 65(11):1598–1604
- 136. Ebrahim W et al (2012) Decalactone derivatives from *Corynespora cassiicola*, an endophytic fungus of the mangrove plant *Laguncularia racemosa*. Eur J Org Chem 2012(18):3476–3484
- 137. Peterson DH et al (1953) Microbiological transformations of steroids. IX. Degradation of C21 steroids to C19 ketones and to testololactone. J Am Chem Soc 75(22):5768–5769
- Fried J, Thoma RW, Klingsberg A (1953) Oxidation of steroids by micro örganisms. III. Side chain degradation, ring D-cleavage and dehydrogenation in ring A. J Am Chem Soc 75 (22):5764–5765
- 139. Fraaije MW et al (2002) Identification of a Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenase sequence motif. FEBS Lett 518(1–3):43–47
- 140. Brondani PB et al (2014) Finding the switch: turning a Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenase into a NADPH oxidase. J Am Chem Soc 136(49):16966–16969
- 141. Rebehmed J et al (2013) Evolution study of the Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases enzyme family: functional importance of the highly conserved residues. Biochimie 95(7):1394–1402
- 142. Alphand V et al (2003) Towards large-scale synthetic applications of Baeyer-Villiger monooxygenases. Trends Biotechnol 21(7):318–323
- 143. Leisch H, Morley K, Lau PCK (2011) Baeyer Villiger monooxygenases: more than just green chemistry. Chem Rev 111(7):4165–4222
- 144. Torres Pazmiño DE, Dudek HM, Fraaije MW (2010) Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases: recent advances and future challenges. Curr Opin Chem Biol 14(2):138–144
- 145. Butinar L et al (2015) Prevalence and specificity of Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenases in fungi. Phytochemistry 117:144–153
- 146. Khosla C, Harbury PB (2001) Modular enzymes. Nature 409(6817):247-252
- 147. Rees GD, Robinson BH, Stephenson GR (1995) Macrocyclic lactone synthesis by lipases in water-in-oil microemulsions. Biochim Biophys Acta 1257(3):239–248
- 148. Hertweck C (2015) Decoding and reprogramming complex polyketide assembly lines: prosects for synthetic biology. Trends Biochem Sci 40(4):189–199